No. 2010-CA-02070

BEFORE THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NANCY BIRMINGHAM WALTERS

Appellant,

v,

DON BARNES

Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT NANCY BIRMINGHAM WALTERS

GENE BARTON

Law Office of Gene Barton 102 N. Church St. P.O. Box 147 Okolona, Mississippi 38860 (662) 447-2522

> Attorney for Appellant Nancy Birmingham Walters

Oral Argument Requested

No. 2010-CA-02070

BEFORE THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NANCY BIRMINGHAM WALTERS

Appellant,

v.

DON BARNES

Appellee.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

SUMMARY OF THE FACTS

This is a lawsuit between two sisters and a sister and a brother-in-law.

William Birmingham was formerly a resident of Lee County, Mississippi. He left two daughters, Nancy Walters and Rosemary Barnes. Nancy Walters is single and Rosemary Barnes is married to Don Barnes, who both live in Alabama. (RE33-RE35) He lived most of his life in Lee County, Mississippi and went under the name William Birmingham. After his wife died, William Birmingham's health had deteriorated as he was eighty-five (85) years of age and he had become somewhat depressed and he had become forgetful and had become dependent on at least one of his children most of the time. Mr. Birmingham was getting forgetful; he could not remember things and his memory was just getting deteriorated. He was on medications and had to have help to go to the drugstore to get his medications filled. He had to have assistance from someone. He rarely went to the bank and his funds were automatically deposited.

Prior to going to Alabama, all agreed and the consensus of the two daughters was that he was getting to the stage that he could not live alone because he never knew when he might have a stroke, another stroke or heart attack and he did not need to be alone by himself. He wore a necklace, an alert necklace, and a lot of times he did not have it on and had to be reminded to wear it. (RE36-RE37)

Due to the circumstances of Nancy Walter's living situation, the decision was made that William Birmingham would move into the home of Don Barnes in the state of Alabama. (RE39) He later became dissatisfied with these living accommodations after he moved all of this furniture to Alabama and relocated back to Mississippi and lived with his sister in Monroe County, Mississippi until his death. He returned to Mississippi because he was unhappy living in the Alabama situation with his son-inlaw and daughter. He had to live with someone and he was left alone there. When he moved back to Mississippi, he moved in with his sister who lived in Monroe County. She was also retired and was able to be with him during the day. (RE45)

At the time that he returned to Mississippi, his driving was restricted. (RE46) He was dependent upon others to prepare his meals when he had returned to Mississippi and before moving to Alabama he also had to have assistance with cooking his meals and going to doctor's appointments. (RE48)

While in Alabama all of his needs were taken care of by Don and Rosemary Barnes. Don Barnes, a public accountant, assisted him by going with him to the bank, opening bank accounts and assisting him with his funds. Don Barnes, his son-in-law, had passed the Certified Public Accountant (CPA) exam but did not at the time of the trial have his CPA license but was a practicing accountant and had been a comptroller for a private industry. (RE26) Don Barnes took William Birmingham to the bank for his banking business and assisted him in setting up these accounts. (RE26-RE27) Neither the bank officer nor Don Barnes read the entire paperwork concerning the Forty-One Thousand Dollars (\$41,000.00) money market account which was worth approximately Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) at the time of this trial and Don Barnes, even though he was a public accountant and qualified to be a CPA, had no idea that the account was set up as a joint account and also it would be presumed that Mr. Birmingham , who was 85 years of age himself and could not even read and understand the document, would also not have know the same. It is significant to note that Don Barnes, who was present when this account was set up, had no knowledge it was a joint account and in fact allowed his wife to sign a sworn affidavit that the account belonged to the estate. (RE27-RE28) This account was at the Regions Bank.

When William Birmingham returned to Mississippi he was brought to the Law Office of Gene Barton. Prior to coming there, he indicated to Nancy Walters that he had signed some documents in Alabama and was not sure what he had signed and he thought that maybe one of them was a new Will and so he asked Nancy Walters to take him back to Alabama, which she did. When they went to Bessemer he could not find the place where he had signed the paper. He said that "Don took care of everything and he just signed the papers." He said "I want to know what they were." But he did not recognize any of the places, so they came back to Mississippi and William Birmingham requested that Nancy take him to "sign a Will so I know exactly what it says." (RE49) Nancy Walters actually drove him to Bessemer and he could not locate where he had been and he could not find it and did not know where he had been or the name of the person he had seen but he thought he had signed another Will. Nancy Walters testified that there were papers filled out and furthermore he indicated that any time papers were signed or filled out in Alabama that Don would drive him there and Don did all the talking and told him what to put down and he just signed them. (RE49) Nancy Walters brought William Birmingham to the Law Office of Gene Barton at which time a Will was executed, which is an exhibit in this trial, which clearly referred to the certificate of deposit (CD). The Will was prepared and specifically addressed the CDs. (RE50) This Will was signed in the presence of the various witnesses that are indicated on the Will. There is no dispute in this case about his competency to prepare this written Will and the Will was witnessed by the ex-wife of Gene Barton, Cynthia Barton, along with former secretary, Susan Wiygul, and also step-son and former employee of Gene Barton, Robert Crouch. All of this was done on the 28th day of June, 2007 and at that time Mr. Birmingham was frail, and old man with Alzheimer's and some other health issues. (RE15)

With respect to the money market account at the Regions Bank, which the Honorable Chancellor gave to Don Barnes, Mrs. Rosemary Barnes with the consent and encouragement and suggestion of Don Barnes filed a suit to remove Nancy Walters as the administrator of the estate and alleging that the funds from that Regions Bank account belonged to the estate and it was estate money. (RE16) At the time of the trial, the Court was holding approximately Forty-Two Thousand Dollars (\$42,000.00) in cash which was the monies which were released by the Regions Bank, which itself believed was estate property and these funds had been turned over to Ronnie Boozer as a result of earlier litigation concerning alleged mishandling of the estate based on the earlier pleadings filed by Don Barnes and Rosemary Barnes. (RE17)

While in Alabama there is no dispute that all of the bank accounts were changed to set up to where the fine print language on the account listed Don Barnes as the owner in the event of the death of William Birmingham or Rosemary Barnes and this occurred after the money was taken to Alabama. As indicated earlier, Don Barnes and Rosemary Barnes and William Birmingham had no idea, including Regions Bank that the Forty-One Thousand Dollar (\$41,000.00) money market account had such language on the account; as they filed sworn pleadings in the Court indicating to the same effect.(RE18, RE27-RE28)

The intentions as expressed in the Will are consistent with the fact that there was an annuity for Two Hundred Thirty Thousand Dollars (\$230,000.00) which was split evenly between the parties, which is consistent with wishes of Mr. Birmingham. (RE18)

ISSUES BEFORE THE COURT

- ISSUE I: Did the Chancery Court commit error in directing a verdict for the defendants, Don Barnes and Rosemary Barnes, in this case where the evidence established a fiduciary relationship existed between the Barnes and William Birmingham and they utilized such relationship to create a certificate of deposit which listed one of the two as the beneficiary to the exclusion of the other daughter, which was clearly contrary to the wishes of William Birmingham?
- ISSUE II: Does the Will of William Birmingham, with clear instructions as to how his money in the bank is to be divided, supersede the written certificate of deposit?
- ISSUE III: Does the filing of a suit in court, under oath, alleging that a certificate of deposit is owned by the estate bar a later change in position and claim by the filing party that they are the sole owner of the account to the exclusion of the other heir?
- ISSUE IV: Did the honorable Chancery Court commit reversible error in requiring Nancy Walters to contribute to attorney's fees?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

It is important to remember that this is a case where the Chancery Judge entered a directed verdict in favor of the Defendants without requiring the Defendants to put on any proof whatsoever or defense. This is not a case where the Court heard all of the testimony. The facts as were laid out earlier in the mentioning of the facts are as related by Nancy Walters herself concerning her father that prior to her father's death that William Birmingham was 85, his health had deteriorated, he had become depressed and forgetful, he had worked for a little while "piddled around" and then he got where he was dependent on Nancy Walters; he needed help buying his medication, going to the grocery store; he was just forgetful. He would come to Nancy Walters' house and do something and the next day he would not remember it. (RE35) He saw a neurologist in Tupelo, Mississippi for these conditions and was treated by a neurologist in Tupelo who was identified as Dr. Harrington. Furthermore Nancy Walters testified that he was forgetful, he could not remember things, his memory was deteriorating and he those were the reasons he saw Dr. Harrington. He was on medication and he was taking Aricept and it was filled at Walgreens in Tupelo and it was necessary for someone to take him to Walgreens to get his medicine filled. (RE36) He always had to have assistance from someone; like Nancy Walters or someone else to give him his checkbook and help him pay bills and to sign checks and prepare checks. He had most of his billing done by automatic draft. He rarely went to the bank. His Social Security was automatically deposited. (RE37) Before going to Alabama, all family members agreed and William Birmingham agreed with his family with consensus of all involved that he was getting to the stage where he did not need to live alone because no one ever knew when he might have a stroke or another stroke or heart attack and he just did not need to be by himself. He wore a necklace, an alert necklace, but a lot of times he would not have it on and had to be reminded to wear it. (RE37) The problem with the necklace that he wore was that he would forget to put it on; he would take it off and forget to put it back on. He would hang it up by his chair and he would not wear it and Nancy Walters would say "Daddy if you fell or if you went to the kitchen or if you did anything and you didn't have it on, you might not be able to reach for it because it's hanging on the wall". (RE38)

He saw Dr. Harrington more than one time, who is the neurologist. (RE38)

The decision for William Birmingham to move to Alabama came to be because his condition got progressively worse and one thing Nancy Walters wanted to make clear is that if she was out of town, she did not have a back-up for her father. In fact she said "one time I was out of town and Daddy had to go to the hospital, and he called my neighbor, who is always his backup, and she got him to the hospital". (RE40) So for these reasons the plan was set up that he would move to Alabama where her sister lived. Nancy Walter indicated that the circumstances of how he got to Alabama were that Don (Barnes) bought a house with an efficiency apartment in the basement for their son, Brett, to live in. Brett decided not to live there, so they had a convenient place for William Birmingham to stay. William Birmingham was convinced to move into Don's basement with the agreement that Rosemary would retire and would be there for him. She agreed to retire, but she did not so when William Birmingham, moved or went to Bessemer, was left alone during the day all the time. (RE41 & RE42)

In Alabama he was not living independently in an apartment, he was basically living under the care of Don Barnes and Rosemary Barnes. (RE42 & RE43)

It was uncontradicted that the money that went into these bank accounts was money that belonged to William Birmingham. (RE44) It had come from the sale of his property in Lee County. (RE45)

When he returned to Mississippi, there had been restrictions placed on his driving and he had to be driven from place to place because of these restrictions on his driving. Mr. Birmingham had some accidents which were attributed to his age and other frailties. (RE47) When he lived with his sister and also with Nancy Walters, someone else prepared his routine meals for him. Prior to coming to the Gene Barton Law Office, William Birmingham told Nancy that he had signed some documents in Alabama and was not sure what he signed; he thought that maybe it was a new Will and he asked Nancy to take him to Alabama, which she did. They went to Bessemer but he could not find the place where he signed the papers. He said that "Don took care of everything and he just signed the papers." He said "I want to know what they were." But he did not recognize any of the places, so they came back to Mississippi and William Birmingham requested that Nancy take him to "sign a Will so I know exactly what it says." And that was the reason why he was brought to the Office of Gene Barton; he had no recollection of where he had been, what he had signed or what he had done in Alabama when Don took him somewhere. (RE49) Furthermore he indicated that any time papers were signed or filled out in Alabama that Don would take him and Don did all the talking and told him what to put down and he just signed them. (RE49)

Rosemary Barnes acknowledged that before moving to Alabama there were nurses checking on him almost on a daily basis or several times a week and that there was a nursing home care service that had to come by his house to check on him. However this was not working out. (RE19) Rosemary Barnes also acknowledged that he did not need to live by himself. All members of the family had talked about it and it was must not possible for him to continue to live alone. (RE20) Rosemary Barnes herself admitted under cross-examination that William Birmingham needed someone close that he could depend on when he needed them for whatever. (RE21) Rosemary Barnes also acknowledged that she filed a pleading in the Court and swore under oath that Nancy Walters had taken possession of more than Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) of the estate. This is one of the bank accounts which was in fact the

checking account. (RE22) When this pleading was signed, Rosemary Barnes and Don Barnes both thought that this money market account did not have a right of survivorship and was owned by the estate and they did not realize until prior to the court hearing that it had a right of survivorship clause in it. However Rosemary Barnes swore out a sworn affidavit that the asset belonged to the estate. (RE23) Furthermore Rosemary Barnes did acknowledge that prior to the Will being done by Gene Barton that an earlier Will had been done in Alabama in June and that Will provided that all assets were to be divided equally. (RE24) This Will was admitted as an exhibit into evidence. (RE25) So there are two Wills involved which explicitly provide that all assets are to be divided equally, which is consistent with the annuity. Furthermore the Will prepared by the Law Office of Gene Barton specifically provides that the certificates of deposit are to be divided equally. Don Barnes admitted that he set up the money market account at the Regions Bank with a bank officer named Kelley in Birmingham. He never testified that the bank officer indicated that the document had any language in there that said it had a survivorship clause. The bank officer did not read the entire document. In fact Don Barnes, a public accountant, who was present when the account was set up on this money market account himself admitted that he did not know it was a joint account when it was set up and he went with William Birmingham to the bank to get it set up and as a public accountant he himself was unaware that it was set up as a joint account. Don Barnes acknowledged that his elderly father-in-law did not read all of the language on the legal documents. It should be noted, and this Court should take judicial notice, that the language of joint rights of survivorship is in very small print, very difficult to read. (RE29) Several instances during his testimony, like Rosemary Barnes, Don Barnes acknowledged that he thought the bank account was strictly owned by the estate and not with a survivorship clause. (RE30) Furthermore Don Barnes sent various letters to Nancy Walters in which he asked about the bank account, being the money market account, which had been released to Nancy Walters and asked for an accounting of those funds since alleged and stated that they were property of the estate which at the trial he changed his position. (RE31) Furthermore Don Barnes stated that at the time he communicated with Nancy Walters after the death of William Birmingham that he had sent her a letter, he sent her keys to the car and at that time he did not know how the money market account was set up. At the time that he wrote the letter he knew that he was the co-owner of the account however he did not know how the account was set up and before she filed what he considered "slanderous charges against me" and this counterclaim, he did not know whether he was the owner or coowner of either of these accounts but he intended to put all of these accounts into the estate and split it equally. But he changed his mind after he was sued in the court. (RE31) Again later in his testimony which was the third or fourth time Rosemary and Don Barnes had acknowledged it, they had no idea how the Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) money market account which was paid over to Nancy Walters and later handled by the Chancery Clerk as administrator of the estate did not realize that it was not the property of the estate. (RE32)

So to summarize, during the entire period Mr. Birmingham was alive, after he died when the estate was initially set up and when Regions Bank turned over about Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) to Nancy Walters in which she set it up in an estate account, inquiries were made by Don Barnes as to the status of this Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) since it was believed to be owned by the estate. The bank believed it to be owned by the estate or it would not have released the funds to Nancy Walters. Because of allegations that Nancy Walters had not properly managed the estate, the funds were put in the custody and care of the Chancery Clerk who managed the funds until the trial. At all times during the proceedings, including the correspondence and also in the legal pleadings filed, it was the position of the Barnes that the Fifty Thousand Dollar (\$50,000.00) money market which was later held in the custody of the Chancery Clerk as administrator of the estate was property of the estate and that there was no survivorship clause. Only until shortly prior to the trial did it become clear when the documents were subpoenaed by a subpoena duces tecum and a lawyer carefully read the fine print did Don Barnes first realize that the document had a survivorship clause in it. (RE32)

ARGUMENT ISSUE I

ISSUE I: Did the Chancery Court commit error in directing a verdict for the defendants, Don Barnes and Rosemary Barnes, in this case where the evidence established a fiduciary relationship existed between the Barnes and William Birmingham and they utilized such relationship to create a certificate of deposit which listed one of the two as the beneficiary to the exclusion of the other daughter, which was clearly contrary to the wishes of William Birmingham?

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