IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI APPEAL NO. 2010-CA-02070

NANCY BIRMINGHAM WALTERS APPELLANT

v.

ROSEMARY BIRMINGHAM BARNES AND DON BARNES APPELLEES

Appeal from the Chancery Court of Monroe County, Mississippi, Trial Court Case #07-0643-48 The Honorable Jacqueline Estes Mask, Chancery Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLEES ROSEMARY BIRMINGHAM BARNES and DON BARNES

Rhett R. Russell (MSB # RUSSELL & RUSSELL, PLLC P.O. Box 27 Tupelo, MS 38802 Telephone: (662) 844-1630 Facsimile: (662) 844-9440 rhetrussell@aol.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEES, ROSEMARY BIRMINGHAM BARNES and DON BARNES

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NANCY BIRMINGHAM WALTERS

APPELLANT

VS.

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

Other testimony was that Mr. Birmingham was totally lucid (T 52), coherent (T 61), understood documents (T 55, T 60), not dependent on Rosemary and Don (T65, T74) took care of himself (T65, T 70, T 74), did his own ironing and washing (T 65), was very mentally alert (T 66), administered his own medications (T 69, T 103), took care of his own meals (T 72, T 79), got his medications filled and refilled (T 73, T 74, T 103), made his own investments (T 79), handled his own financial and business affairs (T 104, T 132), was in good health (T 81), worked in the yard every day (T 82), attended church functions (T 82), took care of his own finances (T 82), had a practice of naming beneficiaries on his investments (T 95, T 103), knew what property he owned (T 95, T 96), owned and drove his own automobile (T 103), received, opened and read his own mail (T 103-104, T 138), was very active (T 104), walked two or three miles a day (T 104), worked out on his treadmill (T 104) and did yard work (T 104).

JOINT OWNERSHIP / POD BENEFICIARY

§ 5-24-12(a) of the Alabama Uniform Multi-Person Accounts Act which became effective March 1, 1998, states that, "On death of a party sums on deposit in a multi-party account belong to the surviving party or parties." § 5-24-12(b) states as per an account with a POD designation, on death of one of two or more parties, the rights in sums on deposit are governed by § 5-24-12(a) of the Alabama Uniform Multi-Person Accounts Act. § 5-24-13(b) of the Alabama Uniform Multi-Person Accounts Act specifies, "A right of survivorship arising from the express terms of the account, Section 5-24-12 or a POD designation, may not be altered by will." (Emphasis added) Funds jointly held pass to the survivor if the instrument creating such joint tenancy specify right of survivorship. <u>Barron v. Scroggins</u>, 910 So.2d 780, 784 (Ala. Civ. App. 2005). In the event the instrument creating a joint interest states that such tenancy is with right of survivorship then the interest of the deceased tenant passes to the surviving joint tenant. *Id.* at 785; <u>Andrews v. Troy Bank</u>, 529 So.2d 987 (Ala. 1988).

CONFIDENTIAL RELATIONSHIP / UNDUE INFLUENCE

Under Alabama law the existence of a confidential relationship between the decedent and Don and Rosemary, without more, will not put upon Don and Rosemary the burden of showing that they did not unduly influence the decedent. <u>Burney v. Torrey</u>, 14 So. 685 (Ala. 1893). Nancy has the burden of showing that a confidential relationship existed between the decedent and Don and Rosemary. <u>Smith v. Vice</u>, 641 So.2d 785, 786 (Ala. 1994). For Nancy to establish a *prima facia* case of undue influence, she must show that a confidential relationship existed, that Don and Rosemary's influence was dominant and controlling in the relationship and that there was undue activity on the part of Don and Rosemary so as to procure the desired results. <u>Smith v. Vice</u>, *Supra*. citing Boland v. Boland, 611 So.2d 1051 (Ala. 1993) and <u>Clifton v. Clifton</u>,

529 So.2d 980 (Ala. 1988). The Supreme Court of Alabama stated in <u>Dees v. Metts</u>, 17 So.2d 137, 140 (Ala. 1944):

"Of course, all the cases recognize that undue influence must be sufficient to destroy the free agency of the (person). And persuasion or argument addressed either to the judgment or affections, in which there is no fraud or deceit, does not constitute undue influence. ... It must be such as to control the mental operations of the (person), overcome his power of resistance, and oblige him to adopt the will of another, thus producing a disposition of property which the (person) would not have made if left freely to act according to his own pleasure. ... And in the more recent case of <u>Abrams</u> <u>v. Abrams</u>, 144 So. 828, 830 ... ' It is not influence, it must be remembered, but undue influence, that is charged and necessary to be proven to overthrow (the) transaction'"

Under Mississippi law as to a will the opponent must show that a confidential relationship existed between the decedent and a beneficiary and after such showing the beneficiary must overcome a rebuttable presumption of undue influence while as to an *inter vivos* gift a rebuttable presumption of undue influence is automatically presumed and the beneficiary must overcome this rebuttable presumption by offering clear and convincing evidence that the gift was the result of the free and independent determination of the giver." Estate of Hall, 32 So.3d 506 (Miss. App. 2009) and <u>Hendrix v. James</u>, 421 So.2d 1031, 1043 (Miss. 1982).¹ A presumption of undue influence is not raised merely because a confidential relationship exists

¹ The Mississippi Supreme Court in <u>Madden v. Rhodes</u>, 626 So.2d 608, 617 (Miss. 1993) states as per the presumption of undue influence that the establishment of a joint account should be considered an *inter vivos* gift thus automatically bringing to bear the rebuttable presumption of undue influence upon the reasoning that the co-owner could have taken possession or otherwise exercised control of the assets in question at any time prior to the demise of the co-owner. However, under the facts at hand, Don was not even aware of his co-ownership until almost a year and a half after Mr. Birmingham's demise.

between the parties; something more is required. There must be some showing that the beneficiary abused the relationship either by asserting dominance or by substituting intentions. <u>Adams v. Adams</u>, 529 So.2d 611, 615 (Miss. 1988). The case *sub juris* is much like that considered by the Mississippi Appellate Court in <u>Estate of Finley v. Finley</u>, 37 So.3d 687 (Miss. App. 2010) which found that the presumption of undue influence had been overcome by evidence depicting the grantor as a shrewd businessman, not solely dependent upon the beneficiaries, controlled his medication himself, capable of driving himself, not easily influenced and reviewed his bank statements. *Id.* at 391-692 (¶ 19). Once a presumption of undue influence arose such rebuttable presumption was defeated by Don and Rosemary demonstrating good faith on their part, Mr. Birmingham's full knowledge and deliberation of his actions and their consequences, and independent consent and action on the part of Mr. Birmingham. <u>Mullins v. Ratcliff</u>, 515 So.2d 1183 (Miss. 1987).

Factors to be considered in determining whether a confidential relationship exists are set out in Estate of Thornton v. Thornton, 922 So.2d 850, 852-853 (¶ 7) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) include:

1. Whether the person has to be taken care of by others;

2. Whether the person maintains a close relationship with another;

3. Whether the person is provided transportation and has his or her medical care provided for by another;

4. Whether the person is physically or mentally weak;

5. Whether the person is of advanced age or poor health; and

6. Whether there exists a power of attorney between that person and another.

There is sufficient credible evidence to support the chancellor's finding that Don and Rosemary rebutted any presumption of undue influence. The lower court was correct in its order granting the motion for involuntary dismissal in concluding:

"The credible proof was that he was in his late eighties and may have been occasionally forgetful, but otherwise of excellent mental capacity, knowledgeable of his financial affairs, exercising regularly, operating his own vehicle, lucid and independent thinking. The court concludes the credible proof is insufficient to support a claim of fraud, duress, mistake, incompetency or undue influence. Accordingly, the motion of Rosemary and Don for involuntary dismissal should be and hereby is granted." (R 153-164, RE 51-62).

The appellate court should not interfere with or disturb a chancellor's findings of fact

unless those findings are manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was

applied. In re Estate of Ladner, 909 So.2d 1051, 1054 (¶ 6) (Miss. 2004).

П.

WHETHER OR NOT THE PROVISIONS OF MR. BIRMINGHAM'S LAST WILL AND TESTAMENT OVERRIDE THE RIGHT OF SURVIVORSHIP ARISING FROM THE EXPRESS TERMS OF AN ACCOUNT OR CERTIFICATE OF DEPOSIT.

Mr. Birmingham's primary investments as of the time of his demise were:

1. A certificate of deposit issued by an Alabama bank naming Rosemary as the pay-

on-death beneficiary (Exhibit 4). This certificate of deposit was renewed with Rosemary again

depicted as the pay-on-death beneficiary (Exhibit 4).

2. A money market account with an Alabama bank depicting Don as a co-owner

(Exhibits 2 and 3).

3. A banking account established with a Mississippi bank depicting Nancy as the pay-on-death beneficiary (Exhibit 1).

4. Checking account with an Alabama bank depicting Don as a co-owner (Exhibits 2 and 3).

5. An Allstate Insurance Annuity through a Mississippi bank depicting Nancy and Rosemary as beneficiaries (Exhibit 5).

Nancy asserts no authority whatsoever to back up her claim that the provisions of Mr. Birmingham's last will and testament override express terms of these investment instruments depicting right of survivorship or designation of a beneficiary.

§ 5-24-12(a) of the Alabama Uniform Multi-Person Accounts Act which became effective March 1, 1998, states that, "On death of a party sums on deposit in a multi-party account belong to the surviving party or parties." § 5-24-12(b) states as per an account with a POD designation, on death of one of two or more parties, the rights in sums on deposit are governed by § 5-24-12(a) of the Alabama Uniform Multi-Person Accounts Act. § 5-24-13(b) of the Alabama Uniform Multi-Person Accounts Act specifies, "A right of survivorship arising from the express terms of the account, Section 5-24-12 or a POD designation, may not be altered by will." (Emphasis added) Funds jointly held pass to the survivor if the instrument creating such joint tenancy specify right of survivorship. <u>Barron v. Scroggins</u>, *Supra*. at 784. In the event the instrument creating a joint interest states that such tenancy is with right of survivorship then the interest of the deceased tenant passes to the surviving joint tenant. *Id.* at 785; <u>Andrews v. Troy Bank</u>, *Supra*. The Mississippi Supreme Court in Estate of Strange, 548 So.2d 1323, 1327 (Miss. 1989)

stated that under Mississippi law the general rule is that:

"Where a joint tenancy account in a bank is made payable to either depositor or survivor, the account passes to the survivor upon the death of a joint tenant.

Absent from the above cases is the situation where the creator of a joint tenancy, or a joint tenant, subsequently executes a last will and testament disposing of the joint tenancy funds to some other source. The answer has to be, and is, that the subsequent will does not destroy the joint tenancy and does not terminate that tenancy and divest the corpus of it into the estate of the testator. In that respect, the joint tenancy differs from the tenancy in common." *Id.* at 1328.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals stated in In re Last Will and Testament of Kistler, 22

So.3d 1209, 1217 (¶ 23) (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) as follows:

"A will written subsequent to the creation of a joint tenancy, which divests the 'funds to some other source[,] ... does not destroy the joint tenancy and does not terminate that tenancy and divest the corpus of it into the estate of the testator.' ... (The testator) may have intended the funds be distributed as provided in her will, but under Mississippi law, (the surviving owner) became the sole owner of the savings account after (the testator's) death."

Nancy desired equal distribution so much so that she would not even provide her sister with a copy of the will of their father or even disclose that such will had been admitted to probate (Exhibit 11, T 106). On June 28, 2007, Mr. Birmingham executed his will, and on the very next day, June 29, 2007, Nancy took her father to BancorpSouth where he set up account number 51708774 with Nancy named as the pay-on-death beneficiary (Exhibit 1, T 108). Nancy's assertion of equal division among the sisters does not mesh with the fact that less than a month after her father died, November 7, 2007, Nancy proceeded to this bank and withdrew all the funds of this account (\$18,753.12) and retained the same in her individual capacity (Exhibit 1,

T 101-102). Further, Nancy got herself appointed as executrix, took the letters testamentary to the State of Alabama and improperly withdrew the funds (\$41,388.41) from the money market account (account number 68719299) owned jointly by Mr. Birmingham and Don and thereafter did not divide these funds with her sister but in her individual capacity claimed complete ownership thereof and spent the same (Exhibits 2 and 3, T 122-123, T 215-216, T 220-221).

Ш.

a ser en ser

WHETHER OR NOT A PLEADING INITIALLY ASSERTING FUNDS OF THE MONEY MARKET ACCOUNT TO BE OWNED BY MR. BIRMINGHAM'S ESTATE WHICH WAS DULY AMENDED WITHOUT OBJECTION PRIOR TO THE PRESENTATION OF TESTIMONY OR OTHER EVIDENCE PRESENT AN ISSUE TO THE NON-OBJECTING PARTY FOR APPEAL PURPOSES.

Mr. Birmingham passed away on October 14, 2007 (T 213). Thereafter, despite oral and written demands Nancy refused to give Rosemary a copy of their father's will and Nancy did not disclose that she had caused the will to be admitted to probate and had been appointed executrix on October 22, 2007 (T 106, R 24). Rosemary retained an attorney and through his assistance on January 21, 2009, finally obtained a copy of her father's will and discovered the probate pleadings (Exhibit 11, T 106, R 24). On March 10, 2009, Rosemary caused to be filed her complaint to remove Nancy as executrix, to revoke her letters testamentary, for accounting, for inventory and for damages (Exhibit 9, R 34-38). Under the then belief that such money market account was established solely in her father's name Rosemary alleged on the second page of her pleading that, "Soon after her appointment Nancy Birmingham Walters took possession of more than Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) of Decedent's probate estate" (R 35). On the 8th day of

May, 2009, Rosemary received from an Alabama bank in response to a *subpoena duces tecum* the bank records as to the money market account and became aware for the first time that such account was jointly owned by Mr. Birmingham and Don (Exhibit 4, T 16-19, T 97, T 100, T 120, T 131-132, T 222). Don filed a counterclaim setting forth his ownership and seeking return of such funds; so, for quite some time prior to Rosemary's motion *ore tenus* to strike from her complaint the aforestated allegation, Nancy had notice that Don was claiming ownership of the funds in the joint money market account (R 69-71).

Prior to any testimony or other evidence being presented Rosemary's attorney moved *ore tenus* to amend her complaint to remove the executrix, etc., so as to strike from the second page thereof, Paragraph 5, the sentence, "Soon after her appointment Nancy Birmingham Walters took possession of more than Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) of Decedent's probate estate." (R 35, T 15-19, T 222). Nancy voiced no objection. It is well-established under Mississippi law that a contemporaneous objection is required in order to preserve an issue for appeal; otherwise, such issue is not preserved for appeal purposes. <u>Johnson v. Gray</u>, 859 So.2d 1006, 1015 (Miss. 2003); <u>Dorrough v. Wilkes</u>, 817 So.2d 567, 577 (Miss. 2002); <u>Barnett v. State</u>, 725 So.2d 797, 801 (Miss. 1998); and <u>Estate of Laughter</u>, 23 So.3d 1055, 1065 (¶ 47) (Miss. 2009). Rosemary's motion, *ore tenus* to amend her complaint was granted (T 21-22, T 222). The court then directed an inquiry to Nancy, "... are you prejudiced in some way as it relates to the amendment moving forward with the case?" to which the response was, "We are not prejudiced." (T 21). Nancy never protested the amendment until at a subsequent hearing, and then when she announced that she was resting her case (T 45) to which the lower court replied: "I ruled on Rhett's amendment because there was an agreement before trial began. That was allowed. I am not going back and address that." (T 247).

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